STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Nov 04 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Oconee County

Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CLIFTON EUGENE SMITH,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-001975

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial judge abuse his discretion by refusing to allow Appellant to impeach the complainant with his prior convictions for possession of methamphetamine, first and second offense, failure to stop for a blue light, the use of communication facility in commission of a felony involving controlled substance, and fleeing or attempting to elude a police officer since such convictions were extremely probative of the complainant's credibility and admissible pursuant to Rule 609, SCRE, and State v. Robinson, 426 S.C. 579, 828 S.E.2d 203 (2019)?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Oconee County grand jury indicted Appellant for assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN). R. 145-146. His case was called to trial on November 18, 2019 before the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, and a jury. R. 1. Assistant Solicitor Jason Alderman represented the state, and Lee Cole represented Appellant. R. 1.

On November 19, 2019, the jury found Appellant guilty as indicted. R. 143, ll. 6-10. He was sentenced to fifteen years imprisonment. R. 144, l. 10.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant and Varia Galbreath dated on and off for several years. R. 35, ll. 2-18; R. 61, l. 19 – 62, l. 12. On December 26, 2017, Galbreath drove Appellant and her adult son, Michael Todd Reid, to Galbreath's daughter's house for a Christmas celebration. R. 35, l. 19 – 36, l. 16; R. 63, ll. 3-12. Present during the small family gathering were Galbreath, Appellant, Reid, Galbreath's daughter, Hanna, and Hanna's boyfriend and young child. R. 36, ll. 15-19. The family ate pizza and exchanged gifts. R. 36, l. 20 – 37, l. 3.

Hanna gave Appellant "mini bottles of alcohol." R. 36, l. 20 – 37, l. 1. Appellant drank the alcohol during the party. Galbreath testified that within thirty minutes of drinking the alcohol, Appellant "started acting up." R. 37, ll. 2-5. Reid went outside because he could not "handle" Appellant's behavior. R. 37, ll. 5-7; R. 64, ll. 6-17. Galbreath was "upset" with Appellant. In her anger, Galbreath said the word "shit." Hanna told her, "Don't talk like that in front of my baby." R. 37, ll. 7-10. Given the situation, Galbreath decided it would be best if they left. R. 37, ll. 10-11.

Galbreath, Appellant, and Reid left the party. R. 64, ll. 18-19. Galbreath was driving, Appellant was in the front passenger seat, and Reid was in the backseat directly behind Appellant. R. 37, ll. 14-18; R. 65, ll. 4-8. As they were driving, Galbreath and Reid were both "irritated" because Appellant had "ruined" the "little Christmas party." R. 38, ll. 1-5. Appellant was "over there in his own little world." R. 38, ll. 5-6.

Reid "started saying what [he] needed to say about" Appellant "mooching" and "not working" and being "overbearing" toward Galbreath. He also commented on Appellant not being able to "handle the alcohol." R. 65, ll. 15-19. Appellant responded, "Well, you [Reid] do

drugs.” R. 65, ll. 20-21. “That’s when [Reid] struck [Appellant].” Reid testified, “I struck him like, ‘Shut, your mouth,’ pretty much.” R. 65, ll. 22-23.

Galbreath immediately stopped the car. She grabbed Appellant’s shirt and said, “Y’all don’t. Stop. What are you doing? Stop.” R. 65, l. 24 – 66, l. 1. Both Galbreath and Reid claimed the altercation ended at this point and Galbreath started driving again. R. 39, ll. 8-11; R. 66, ll. 9-12.

Reid testified that he was looking down at his phone “trying to get ahold of somebody.” R. 66, ll. 3-4. The group was traveling down a dark road when Appellant “whirled around in the seat.” R. 39, ll. 22-25. He was “turned around completely in his seat on his knees facing the rear.” R. 66, ll. 21-22. Galbreath thought Appellant was “hitting” Reid. R. 39, l. 22 – 40, l. 1. Reid thought he was being “slapped.” R. 66, ll. 14-15. Galbreath stopped the car again in the middle of the road. R. 39, l. 22 – 40, l. 1; R. 66, l. 19. She grabbed Appellant’s shirt and yelled, “Just stop. Just stop.” R. 40, ll. 1-2. Galbreath was trying to pull Appellant back toward the front of the car. R. 66, ll. 19-24.

According to Reid, he eventually realized Appellant had something sharp in his hand. R. 66, ll. 24-25. There was little “room in the backseat to go anywhere.” R. 68, ll. 13-14. However, Reid was able to open the back door and get out of the car. R. 40, ll. 2-3. When he got out, he realized he had been “sliced.” R. 66, ll. 13-14. Reid said, “You cut me.” R. 40, ll. 3-4.

Galbreath claimed that as soon as Reid got out of the car, Appellant turned around and sat back down in the front passenger seat. R. 40, ll. 4-6. Galbreath called 911. R. 41, ll. 1-8. Reid laid down in the middle of the road. R. 41, l. 11. He was treated by paramedics and ultimately transported to the hospital. R. 41, l. 25 – 42, l. 2; R. 72, ll. 13-25; R. 22, l. 11 – 24, l. 15.

When first responders arrived, Appellant was standing at the back of the car. He was “agitated” and shouting. R. 25, l. 22 – 26, l. 16. The first responder asked Appellant if he had any weapons. Appellant admitted he had a knife in his pocket. The first responder asked Appellant to put the knife on top of the trunk and Appellant complied. R. 17, ll. 1-9. He was “very compliant” and cooperated with law enforcement. R. 29, ll. 14-19. The knife was a pocketknife. R. 33, ll. 9-14. The blade was about two to four inches long. R. 33, ll. 15-17.

When questioned, Appellant told law enforcement that he acted in self-defense. Appellant said there was an argument, that Reid attacked him with a knife, that he was able to take the knife from Reid and ultimately stab Reid with his own knife. R. 87, l. 14 – 88, l. 10; R. 90, ll. 7-11.

Reid was thirty years old at the time of the altercation, weighed over two hundred pounds, and was approximately six feet tall. R. 74, ll. 4-20. Reid testified he was “physically perfect” at the time and has “always been pretty fit, healthy.” R. 74, ll. 14-25.

Despite Galbreath’s testimony that there was a pause between when Reid originally struck Appellant and when Appellant turned around in his seat and began hitting Reid, she was later impeached with the written statement she gave to law enforcement the night of the incident in which she admitted it was one continuous altercation and that there was no gap of time between when Reid struck Appellant and when Appellant began to defend himself. R. 43, l. 20 – 47, l. 12.

The judge charged the jury on self-defense. R. 51, l. 4 – 54, l. 10. After deliberating for an hour and a half, the jury found Appellant guilty as indicted. R. 59, l. 13 – 60, l. 15.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only.” State v. Robinson, 426 S.C. 579, 591, 828 S.E.2d 203, 209 (2019) (citing State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006)). “The admission of evidence concerning past convictions for impeachment purposes remains within the trial [court’s] discretion, provided the [trial court] conducts the analysis mandated by the evidence rules and case law.” Id. (quoting State v. Dunlap, 346 S.C. 312, 324, 550 S.E.2d 889, 896 (Ct. App. 2001)) (alterations in original) (internal quotation marks omitted). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id. (quoting State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429-430, 632 S.E.2d 845, 848 (2006)) (internal quotation marks omitted).

ARGUMENT

The trial judge abused his discretion by refusing to allow Appellant to impeach the complainant with his prior convictions for possession of methamphetamine, first and second offense, failure to stop for a blue light, the use of communication facility in commission of a felony involving controlled substance, and fleeing or attempting to elude a police officer since such convictions were extremely probative of the complainant's credibility and admissible pursuant to Rule 609, SCRE, and *State v. Robinson*, 426 S.C. 579, 828 S.E.2d 203 (2019).

Relevant Facts

Before Michael Todd Reid testified, defense counsel informed the judge that he sought to impeach Reid, the alleged victim, with several of his prior convictions. Specifically, Appellant sought to impeach Reid with his 2019 conviction for possession of methamphetamine, second offense, and his 2018 conviction for failure to stop for a blue light, both from South Carolina. He also sought to impeach Reid with three 2017 convictions from Georgia: possession of methamphetamine, first offense, "the use of communication facility in commission of a felony involving controlled substance," and fleeing or attempting to elude a police officer. R. 48, 1. 24 – 59, 1. 2.

The trial judge relied on *State v. Robinson*, 426 S.C. 579, 828 S.E.2d 203 (2019) and read aloud portions of the case concerning the admission of prior convictions pursuant to Rule 609, SCRE. He asserted, "And the way they break it down, if it's a witness as opposed to being the accused, and it's for a crime punishable by more than a year, then it may be excluded if the probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, misleading of the jury, undue delay, waste of time, and cumulative evidence. The State has the burden of establishing inadmissibility, and then the Colf, C-o-l-f, factors have to be

considered as well, and that is the impeachment value of the prior crime, the point in time of the conviction, and the witnesses' subsequent history, similarity between the past crime and the crime charged – that's more for the defendant - - import of the defendant's testimony – again that's for the defendant – or the accused and centrality of credibility is an issue.” R. 49, l. 12 – 50, l. 11.

The assistant solicitor argued Reid's 2019 conviction for possession of methamphetamine, second offense, should be excluded because “it tends to confuse the issue. There's been no factual allegation that, specifically in this case, methamphetamine on his prior record was any factor or had anything to do with the events of that night, and at the same time, just saying methamphetamine tends to prejudice that individual. It's kind of a hot button issue, particularly in this county, Judge, and I think that it's more prejudicial than it could possibly be probative.” R. 51, ll. 4-14.

Defense counsel argued Reid's 2019 conviction for possession of methamphetamine, second offense, should be admissible because “it adds probative value as to . . . the truthfulness of his [Reid's] statements.” Counsel also argued it was relevant because he intended to question Reid about the cause of the altercation, including the fact that Appellant discussed Reid's drug use immediately before Reid struck Appellant. R. 51, ll. 17-24.

The trial judge found possession of methamphetamine was not a crime of dishonesty and concluded the conviction would fall under Rule 609(a)(1). R. 52, l. 18 – 53, l. 15. He ultimately ruled Appellant could not impeach Reid with this conviction. He asserted, “I'm not going to allow you to do that, Mr. Cole [defense counsel], in all due candor. I think it's just unduly prejudicial to the State in this matter. Doesn't have any probative value to the case or the issues in this case. *Credibility is a big issue in this case; however, because a swearing contest between*

the victim and his mom and defendant about what actually occurred in that car, nobody knows but them. It's close to the point in time [the conviction to the date of the offense], it's April [2019]. Impeachment value . . . I don't think it has a whole lot of value except for what we all know is that it will - - from a jury standpoint, they are going to think, whoever has this charge, is a bad person." R. 53, l. 19 – 54, l. 6 (emphasis added).

As far as failure to stop for a blue light, defense counsel argued the conviction fell under Rule 609(a)(1) because it carried more than one year. He argued it was probative for impeachment purposes because there is "dishonesty involved" when one refuses to stop for a blue light and evades law enforcement. R. 169, ll. 16-22. After discussing which type of offenses constitute crimes of dishonesty pursuant to Rule 609(a)(2), the trial judge merely asserted, "I'm not going to allow that either" without conducting any of the analysis required by Rule 609(a)(1). R. 54, l. 23 – 55, l. 24.

The parties then discussed Reid's 2017 convictions from Georgia for "the use of communication facility in commission of a felony involving a controlled substance" and possession of methamphetamine. R. 56, ll. 1-23. The judge clarified that the first offense meant Reid "used a phone to order drugs or facilitate a drug deal." R. 56, ll. 13-18. Again, without conducting the analysis required by Rule 609(a)(1), the judge merely ruled, "The ruling is going to be the same." R. 56, ll. 24-25.

Lastly, defense counsel argued Reid's 2017 conviction from Georgia for fleeing or attempting to elude a police officer should be admitted because "if he's fleeing or attempting to elude, that does carry dishonesty with it." R. 57, ll. 6-12. The trial judge found this offense was not a crime of dishonestly and therefore fell under Rule 609(a)(1). However, again without

conducting the proper analysis as required by the rule, the judge merely asserted, “I’m going to find that it’s not admissible.” R. 57, l. 16 – 58, l. 8.

The judge then inquired whether Reid had any “bad check charges, anything like that?” R. 58, ll. 9-12. His question suggested he would not allow Appellant to impeach Reid with any convictions that were not defined as crimes of dishonesty and, therefore, admissible pursuant to Rule 609(a)(2). Ultimately, Appellant was not permitted to impeach Reid with any of his prior convictions.

Discussion

The trial judge abused his discretion by refusing to allow Appellant to impeach Reid with his prior convictions for possession of methamphetamine, first and second offense, failure to stop for a blue light, the use of communication facility in commission of a felony involving a controlled substance, and fleeing or attempting to elude a police officer since such convictions were admissible pursuant to Rule 609, SCRE, and State v. Robinson, 426 S.C. 579, 828 S.E.2d 203 (2019).

“Rule 609 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence governs the admissibility of a witness’s prior convictions for purposes of impeachment.” Robinson, 426 S.C. at 592, 828 S.E.2d at 209. “Rule 609 prescribes varying standards for admissibility of evidence of prior convictions.” Id. at 592, 828 S.E.2d at 209-210. In pertinent part, Rule 609 provides:

(a) General Rule. For the purpose of attacking the credibility of a witness,

(1) evidence that a witness other than an accused has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted, subject to Rule 403, if the crime was punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of one year under the law under which the witness was convicted, and evidence that an accused has been convicted of such a crime shall be admitted if the court determines that the probative value of admitting this evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect to the accused; and

(2) evidence that any witness has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted if it involved dishonesty or false statement, regardless of the punishment.

“Rule 609(a) invokes three impeachment scenarios.” Robinson, 426 S.C. at 593, 828 S.E.2d at 210. “First, under Rule 609(a)(1), evidence that a witness other than an accused has been convicted of a crime punishable by death or imprisonment for more than one year (in the jurisdiction where the conviction occurred) is admissible, subject to Rule 403, SCRE.” Id. “Under Rule 403, evidence of such a conviction ‘may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.’” Id. “The Rule 403 test places the burden upon the opponent of the evidence to establish inadmissibility pursuant to Rule 403.” Id. “Second, under Rule 609(a)(1), when the accused chooses to testify during his trial, if the State seeks to introduce impeachment evidence that the accused has been convicted of a crime punishable by imprisonment for more than one year, the evidence is admissible if the State establishes the probative value of admitting the evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect upon the accused.” Id. “Third, under Rule 609(a)(2), if a witness, even an accused, has been convicted of a crime involving dishonesty or false statement, evidence of such a conviction shall be admitted regardless of the maximum punishment and regardless of the probative value or prejudicial effect of the evidence.” Id. (citing State v. Bryant, 369 S.C. 511, 517, 633 S.E.2d 152, 155 (2006)).

In State v. Colf, 337 S.C. 622, 627, 525 S.E.2d 246, 248 (2000), our Supreme Court adopted the five factor analysis employed by federal courts when weighing the probative value of prior convictions against the prejudicial effect to the accused. These factors include: (1) The impeachment value of the prior crime; (2) The point in time of the conviction and the witness’s subsequent history; (3) The similarity between the past crime and the charged crime; (4) The

importance of the defendant's testimony; and (5) The centrality of the credibility issue. Id. "These factors are not exclusive; trial courts should exercise their discretion in light of the facts and circumstances of each particular case." Id. Although Colf focused on the admission of prior convictions more than ten years old under Rule 609(b), our courts have also consistently applied these factors for purposes of a Rule 609(a)(1) analysis. Robinson, 426 S.C. at 594, 828 S.E.2d at 211 (citing State v. Bryant, 369 S.C. 511, 517 n.1, 633 S.E.2d 152, 155 n.1 (2006)).

Relevant to this case is Rule 609(a)(1) as all five of Reid's prior convictions were punishable by imprisonment for more than one year, but did not constitute crimes of dishonesty pursuant to Rule 609(a)(2) as defined by this state's case law. "[U]nder Rule 609(a)(1), if the witness is someone other than the accused and has a prior conviction of a crime punishable by death or imprisonment for more than one year, the trial court must balance the Colf factors and determine whether, under Rule 403, the probative value of the conviction is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice and/or other relevant considerations set forth in Rule 403. *The burden of establishing inadmissibility of the conviction is upon the opponent of the evidence.*" Robinson, 426 S.C. at 595, 828 S.E.2d at 211 (emphasis added).

The trial judge recognized that "credibility is a big issue in this case" and that it ultimately came down to a "swearing contest between the victim [Reid] and his mom [Galbreath] and the defendant [Appellant] about what actually occurred in that car, nobody knows but them." R. 53, l. 23 – 54, l. 1. The probative value of Reid's prior convictions was thus extremely high because they reflected on Reid's credibility, the central issue in the case, and the truthfulness of his statements and testimony.

An analysis of the relevant Colf factors also demonstrates the probative value of these prior convictions. The first factor concerns the "impeachment value of the prior crime." Both

failure to stop for a blue light and fleeing or attempting to elude a police officer involve a level of dishonesty that reflect poorly on Reid's credibility and the truthfulness of his statements. Thus, their impeachment value was great. While generally less probative of truthfulness than Reid's other convictions, his convictions for possession of methamphetamine and the use of a communication facility in commission of a felony involving a controlled substance, nonetheless reflect on Reid's credibility and were relevant to the reason for the altercation, namely Appellant's accusation that Reid used drugs. See Robinson, 426 S.C. at 599, 828 S.E.2d at 213 ("Although prior convictions for robbery, burglary, theft, and drug possession are not crimes of dishonesty or false statement, which would result in automatic admissibility under Rule 609(a)(2), such convictions may still have impeachment value under Rule 609(a)(1).")

Additionally, all of Reid's prior convictions were close in time to both the altercation, which occurred on December 26, 2017, and Appellant's trial, which was held November 18, 2019, as all five convictions occurred between 2017 and 2019. Moreover, as already argued and acknowledged by the trial judge, credibility was central to the case. Consequently, the Colf factors support the admission of Reid's prior convictions.

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