STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Oconee County  
Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

**RECEIVED**

**Nov 19 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

CLIFTON EUGENE SMITH,

Appellant.

Appellant Case No. 2019-001975

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER  
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

DAVID R. WAGNER  
Solicitor, Tenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 8002  
Anderson, SC 29622  
(864) 260-4046

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

R. p. 53, line 19 – p. 54, line 6.

After this ruling, Defense counsel next brought up that Reid also had a 2018 conviction for failure to stop for a blue light. He noted it carried more than one year as a ground for admissibility,<sup>1</sup> but also argued “there could be some dishonesty involved in that . . . .” R. p. 54, lines 16-22. However, defense counsel admitted he was unaware of any cases that claimed failure to stop for a blue light was a crime of dishonesty. After further discussion where all parties agreed to a lack of authority regarding failure to stop for a blue light, the trial court declined to allow impeachment with that conviction as well. R. pp. 54-55.

---

<sup>1</sup> The offense is punishable by up to three years' imprisonment. S.C. Code § 56-5-750.

Defense counsel brought up a charge called “use of communication facility in commission of a felony involving controlled substances.” Defense counsel agreed it was using a phone to buy or sell drugs. The trial court ruled the same, finding the offenses were all interrelated. R. p. 56.

Defense counsel then brought up another Georgia conviction from 2017: fleeing or attempting to elude a police officer. Defense counsel argued that the offense “does carry dishonesty with it.” R. p. 57, lines 5-12. The prosecutor countered that he did not know the penalty for the Georgia offense. R. p. 57, lines 13-14. Defense counsel never asserted the offense carries a year or more imprisonment. In fact, the offense carries a maximum twelve months’ imprisonment, and therefore is not a qualifying offense under Rule 609(a)(1). See Ga. Code § 40-6-395. This is undoubtedly why defense counsel never attempted to move the conviction in under this section of the rule and only argued that it was a crime of dishonesty. The trial court found that it was not a crime of dishonesty. R. pp. 57-58. On appeal, Appellant is not arguing any of the charges constitute a crime of dishonesty.

**Standard of review: Rule 609 and Rule 403 analysis**

Under Rule 609(a)(1), SCRE, a witness other than the accused shall be impeached with a prior conviction if it is a felony punishable by more than one year or death, subject to Rule 403, SCRE. Thus admission of testimony is subject to the trial court’s Rule 403 analysis. Under Rule 403 analysis, the prior conviction should be admitted unless its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury.

Relevant evidence may be excluded where its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Rule 403, SCRE; State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 210, 631 S.E.2d 262,

266 (2006). A trial court's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances. State v. McLeod, 362 S.C. 73, 81, 606 S.E.2d 215, 219 (Ct. App.2004). Determination of relevancy is largely within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of that discretion. State v. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 127, 606 S.E.2d 508, 513 (Ct. App. 2004). "A trial judge's balancing decision under Rule 403 should not be reversed simply because an appellate court believes it would have decided the matter otherwise because of a differing view of the highly subjective factors of the probative value or the prejudice presented by the evidence." State v. Stephens, 398 S.C. 314, 320, 728 S.E.2d 68, 71 (Ct. App. 2012).

The Supreme Court in Robinson made clear that for the analysis, the Colf factors should be employed. The factors include:

- 1) The impeachment value of the crime.
- 2) The point in time of the conviction and the witness's subsequent history.
- 3) The similarity between the past crime and the charged crime.
- 4) The importance of the defendant's testimony.
- 5) The centrality of the credibility issue.

Robinson, 426 S.C. at 594, 828 S.E.2d at 211 (citing State v. Colf, 337 S.C. 622, 625-26, 525 S.E.2d 246, 247-48 (2000)).

The Supreme Court in Robinson explained:

[I]f the witness is someone other than the accused and has a prior conviction of a crime punishable by death or imprisonment for more than one year, the trial court must balance the Colf factors and determine whether, under Rule 403, the probative value of the

conviction is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice and/or other relevant considerations set forth in Rule 403. The burden of establishing inadmissibility of the conviction is upon the opponent of the evidence.

Robinson, 426 S.C. at 595, 828 S.E.2d at 211.

In any given case involving the same indicted charges, two different trial courts could examine the same prior conviction(s), evaluate the same five Colf factors, and perhaps reach opposite conclusions as to the admissibility of the prior convictions. In such an instance, it is conceivable that under our standard of review, both trial courts would be affirmed. This is the nature of our standard of review in Rule 609(a)(1) cases when a trial court weighs the probative value of a prior conviction against its prejudicial effect.

Robinson, 426 S.C. at 607, 828 S.E.2d at 217.

#### **Convictions must carry in excess of a year imprisonment**

Reid's convictions consisted of Georgia convictions in 2017 for possession of methamphetamine and "use of a communication facility in commission of a felony involving a controlled substance," a Georgia conviction in 2017 for fleeing or attempting to elude a police officer; a 2018 South Carolina conviction for failure to stop for a blue light; and a 2019 South Carolina conviction for possession of methamphetamine, second offense. Appellant agrees none of these convictions constitute crimes of dishonesty. Br. of App. p. 12. The Georgia fleeing conviction is disqualified from consideration under Rule 609(a)(1) because the maximum sentence is only twelve months and Rule 609(a)(1) only allows convictions that are punishable by death or "imprisonment in excess of one year." See Ga. Code § 40-6-395.

#### **Impeachment value of the crimes**

The first prong of the Colf analysis is the impeachment value of the crime:

The starting point in the analysis is the degree to which the prior convictions have probative value, meaning the tendency to prove the issue at hand – the witness’s propensity for truthfulness, or credibility. . . . The tendency to impact credibility . . . determines the impeachment value of the prior conviction. Impeachment value refers to how strongly the nature of the conviction bears on the veracity, or credibility, of the witness. . . . The purpose of the impeachment is not to show the witness is a bad person but rather to show background facts which impact the witness’s credibility.

Robinson, 426 S.C. at 597-98, 828 S.E.2d at 212-13.

The Second Circuit examined the relative impeachment value of various crimes in United States v. Estrada, 430 F.3d 606 (2d Cir. 2005). The Second Circuit noted the distinction between crimes that reflect adversely on a person’s integrity, like deceit, fraud, or theft, and crimes that are acts of violence, “which may result from a short temper, a combative nature, extreme provocation, or other causes, [and] generally have little or no direct bearing on honesty and veracity.” Id. at 617 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). The Court cited several secondary sources that also provided more factors for analysis of the probative value of prior convictions, providing a parenthetical quote: “[C]rimes of impulse or carelessness have little probative value since they say little about the propensity to engage in calculated law-breaking like perjury.” Id. at 618 (quoting 28 WRIGHT & GOLD § 6134 at 233). Another hornbook was cited for the observation: “[C]rimes requiring planning or preparation bear more strongly on veracity than violence alone . . . because planning indicates deliberate and injurious violation of basic standards rather than impulse or anger, and usually it involves some element of deceiving the victim.” Id. (quoting MUELLER & KIRKPATRICK § 6.31 at 563).

Speaking to determining the legislative intent behind the federal rules of evidence, the

Second Circuit quoted another circuit with the view,

More likely, Congress anticipated that crimes of stealth (e.g., smuggling, burglary), while not quite crimes of dishonesty or false statement do reflect lack of credibility and should be admitted unless significantly prejudicial . . . We thus find gradations among Rule 609(a)(1) crimes, in terms of their bearing on truthfulness, to lie at the heart of the Rule 403 analysis that district courts must undertake when determining whether to admit for impeachment purposes evidence of a witness's convictions, including their statutory names, under Rule 609(a)(1).

Id. at 618-19 (citations and some internal quotation marks omitted).

In the instant case, three of the five charges are drug charges – two possession convictions and an offense that apparently punishes using a phone to commit a drug offense. These charges obviously have little impeachment value. “Violations of narcotics laws are generally not probative of truthfulness. Furthermore, a conviction for robbery, burglary, theft, and drug possession, beyond the basic crime itself, is not probative for truthfulness. . . .” Robinson, 426 S.C. at 596, 828 S.E.2d at 211-12 (quoting State v. Bryant, 369 S.C. 511, 517, 633 S.E.2d 152, 155-156 (2006)).

The remaining two charges are failure to stop for a blue light and an attempt to elude law enforcement. Of course, as explained above, the fleeing conviction from Georgia does not qualify for admission under Rule 609(a)(1) because it carries only twelve months' imprisonment. Applying an analysis suggested by Estrada shows modest impeachment value with the existence of elements that weigh against the impeachment value to be gained from the fact of these convictions. Admittedly, these convictions may offer some impeachment value because they show disrespect for law enforcement; however, neither of the two convictions represent dishonest conduct, and neither of the offenses generally result from planning. Instead, each offense could represent impulsive actions

occurring when confronted by law enforcement. Neither offense represents stealth – instead these convictions represent conduct occurring from the lack, or possibly failure, of stealth. These offenses are clearly not crimes of dishonesty and further, are not examples of crimes necessarily indicating a lack of credibility by the offender. Therefore, a trial judge could reasonably find limited impeachment value from the fact of conviction for the two offenses that would ultimately be outweighed by the other factors for consideration, including the potential for prejudice.

In addition to the impeachment value of the convictions, the remaining Colf factors should be considered:

(2) Point in time: The offenses were recent, 2017-19, and admission certainly was not precluded based on age of the offenses. See Robinson, 426 S.C. at 214, 828 S.E.2d at 600 (closeness in time of prior offenses and charged offense revealed “a pattern of behavior that legitimately evoked questions of Robinson’s credibility”). (3) As to the similarity to the convictions to the charged crime, this factor may not seem to come into play because Reid was not charged with a crime: he was just the victim, and the crime was ABHAN. However, this factor of the analysis does suggest related potential prejudice because the evidence was that Appellant accused Reid of using drugs and some, possibly all, the prior convictions were drug-related – meaning the convictions evidence becomes prejudicial extrinsic evidence of Appellant’s allegation against Reid, even though it is agreed there was no evidence Reid was using drugs on the night of the slashing. See Robinson, 426 S.C. at 214, 828 S.E.2d at 600 (evidence of similar acts “inevitably suggests” the propensity to commit the crime charged and even a limiting instruction does not completely negate the risk). (4) The fourth factor, importance of the defendant’s testimony, is not relevant because the defendant did not testify. The

importance of Reid's testimony is not insignificant, but his testimony was corroborated by Galbreath's testimony, the abundant evidence of his injuries, and the lack of injuries to Appellant. (5) The last factor, centrality of the credibility issue, is limited as identity was not at issue. To be sure, there was a statement from the defendant vaguely suggesting self-defense, but Appellant did not testify and so the evidence was essentially uncontroverted. Further, Reid's testimony was cumulative to Galbreath's testimony, except for an important fact that was only testified to by Galbreath: Galbreath impeached Appellant's claim that he took the knife from Victim because she testified that the knife Appellant used to slash Reid was the same knife she gave Appellant for Christmas, and she testified Appellant brought the knife with him to the Christmas party. The nature and extent of the injuries were adequately addressed by testimony from multiple witnesses, and evidence of Appellant's boisterous demeanor afterwards and his remorseless statements that night were established by witnesses other than Reid. It is fair to say the State's case was strong enough to easily convict Appellant regardless of whether Reid testified. See Robinson, 426 S.C. at 216, 828 S.E.2d at 603 (finding trial court did not err in analyzing this factor and finding Robinson's testimony was largely cumulative: "Though Robinson communicated a couple of additional points, his testimony was largely cumulative to that of other witnesses.").

The convictions in the instant case deliver only limited impeachment value, and the trial court did not err in determining the probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of prejudice. If the convictions evidence was admitted, it is likely the jury would conclude that Reid, the victim, was a bad person because he does methamphetamine and runs from police. Additionally, because of testimony that Appellant accused Reid of using drugs, drug-related convictions evidence

created a danger of confusing the issues at trial. The jury might even have engaged in speculation as to whether Reid was using drugs at the time of the incident. The jury was likely to miss the probative use, limited as it was. Wright & Miller discussed the potential prejudice of conviction evidence:

Conviction evidence can induce a decision on an improper basis in three ways. First, where the witness is a party or is associated with a party, conviction evidence may induce the jury to conclude the party is a bad person. If the jury then decides the case based on its dislike of the party, the evidence has an unfairly prejudicial effect. Second, where the witness is a party, the jury may use the conviction evidence to draw an inference about how the party acted in connection with the events now in question. Where the evidence is inadmissible for that purpose under Rule 404(a), the evidence again has an unfairly prejudicial effect. Finally, even if the jury uses conviction evidence only for the proper purpose of drawing an inference about the witness's credibility, the jury may overweigh the evidence for that purpose.

(Victor J. Gold) Wright & Miller, 28 Federal Practice and Procedure § 6134 (2d ed.).

In the instant case, although a prosecution witness and not a party, Reid was the victim in this case and the jury needed to determine his interactions with Appellant. The crimes, involving drugs and avoidance of law enforcement could confuse the issues in the present case and lead the jury to make an impermissible inference how Reid acted based on these convictions. Moreover, the inherent danger of admitting the convictions evidence is the likelihood the jury would draw a negative conclusion about Reid's character and allow these conclusions to influence its verdict. See State v. Stewart, 283 S.C. 104, 110, 320 S.E.2d 447, 450 (1984) ("It would do well for defense counsel to remember that the people of the State as well as the defendant are entitled to a fair trial."). Additionally, the jury, despite corroborative testimony from Galbreath and the numerous lacerations

Reid suffered, could outweigh the limited impeachment value Appellant's convictions presented. Further, any error possible error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Mitchell, 330 S.C. 189, 199-200, 498 S.E.2d 642, 647-48 (1998) (noting the Constitution requires a criminal defendant to receive a fair trial, not a perfect one). Accordingly, the trial court did not err in declining to allow Appellant to introduce Reid's convictions.

### CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the judgment and conviction of the lower court should be affirmed.